IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS & CITATION TO COURT OF 
APPEALS DECISION 

Peggy Montgomery, Dwight Montgomery, and Lisa 

Montgomery (collectively "the Montgomerys"), appellants below, 

petition for review of the Court of Appeals published decision in 

Montgomery v. Engelhard et a/., Washington State Court of 

Appeals No. 31888-5-111 (June 2, 2015). The decision includes a 

lead opinion (Appendix A 1-A9), a concurring in result opinion 

(Appendix A10-A12), and a dissenting opinion (Appendix A13-A46).

INTRODUCTION 

This petition arises from latent defects in the home Peggy 

Montgomery purchased from a well-known Tri-Cities real estate 

developer and, at the time, licensed real estate professional, Glen 

Engelhard. It is undisputed that the home's structure and 

foundation fail to prevent significant and sustained water intrusion, 

which has rendered the home uninhabitable since October 2010. 

The plurality appellate decision affirms the trial court's summary 

judgment dismissal of the Montgomerys' breach of implied warranty 

of habitability claim. The lead and concurring in result opinions' 

analysis conflict with each other but reach the same result. 

The lead opinion construes the facts in a light most favorable 

to the moving party, Engelhard, and ignores the facts and 
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reasonable inferences that are most favorable to the nonmoving 

party, the Montgomerys. The lead opinion also holds that, as a 

matter of law, working with a contractor to construct a home for sale 

removes the vendor from the category of "vendor-builder" to which 

the implied warranty of habitability applies. Thus, the lead opinion 

creates a new exception to the claim that will render the claim 

inapplicable to most new home sales in Washington. 

The concurring in result opinion reasons the construction 

statute of repose, RCW 4.16.300-.320, which only applies to claims 

arising from a person having constructed, supervised, or observed 

construction of any improvement upon real property (i.e. a builder), 

applies to bar the Montgomerys' implied warranty of habitability 

claim as a matter of law. The concurring in result opinion also 

reasons that application of the implied warranty of habitability 

should be extended from the activity of selling to the activity of 

building. 

The plurality decision conflicts with numerous decisions of 

this Court and others and involves both a significant question under 

Canst. art. I, § 21 and questions of substantial public importance. 

Additionally, the disagreement by all three judges on the Court of 

Appeals panel as to the proper analysis demonstrates the law is in 
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disarray and needs to be clarified. This Court should grant review, 

reverse, and remand for trial. 

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. If a vendor is in the business of developing real estate and 

selling homes and constructs a home for the purpose of selling the 

home as a part of a sequential build and sell business plan, does 

the implied warranty of habitability adopted by House v. Thornton, 

76 Wn.2d 428, 457 P.2d 199 (1969) apply? 

1.a. If yes, does hiring and working with a licensed contractor 

during construction of the home allow the vendor-builder to avoid 

the implied warranty of habitability? 

2. Adhering to the principles set forth in Preston v. Duncan, 55 

Wn.2d 678, 349 P.2d 605 (1960), are there material questions of 

fact as to (a) whether Engelhard was regularly engaged in building; 

(b) whether Engelhard built the home with an intent for personal 

use or sale where (1) Engelhard had a sequential build and sell 

plan, (2) kept his condominium on the same golf course, (3) built a 

large home with high end materials at a discount to increase profit, 

(4) began construction of the next home in his plan before selling 

the home at issue to Montgomery, and (5) lived in or received mail 

at each home in his plan for two years in order to obtain a tax 
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benefit before selling; and (c) whether the home was a "new house" 

where (1) Montgomery was the first buyer-occupants of the home, 

(2) Engelhard had a sequential build and sell plan, and (3) 

Engelhard lived in or received mail at the home for two years to 

obtain a tax benefit and complete the home's finishes? 

3. Under Pfeifer v. City of Bellingham, 112 Wn.2d 562, 772 

P.2d 1018 (1989) does the construction statute of repose, RCW 

4.16.300-.320, bar implied warranty of habitability claims, which 

stem from the activity of selling, against the vendor-builder? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Engelhard, a successful, sophisticated real estate 
developer and licensed agent, was regularly engaged in 
building. 

In 1997, Engelhard purchased the last undeveloped lot on 

the Meadow Springs golf course in Richland. Op. at 2;1 CP 463. 

Engelhard had a sequential build and sell business plan, in which 

1 Although the Montgomerys appealed from a summary judgment 
dismissing their claim, the lead opinion failed to take the facts in the light 
most favorable to them. See, e.g., CR 56. This Statement corrects that 
error. 
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he planned to build a home on the lot, sell it and take advantage of 

the tax savings. CP 463. Engelhard had already developed three 

commercial properties. CP 428-429. He had also purchased, fixed 

up, and sold for profit two residential homes with a contractor 

friend. CP 433. Engelhard met the contractor that he would build 

the home at issue with by selling new homes the contractor had 

built. CP 425-426. Engelhard and the contractor had also worked 

together on one of Engelhard's commercial property developments. 

CP 429. Engelhard built the next home in his sequential build and 

sell business plan with the same contractor. CP 459-460; 430. 

Engelhard also developed a residential subdivision. CP 424 ("[W]e 

built the County View Estates ... It was the first subdivision I was 

ever involved in, so."). 

In both his commercial and residential development projects, 

Engelhard hired contractors for construction, but Engelhard paid all 

subcontractors and material vendors directly to save money, 

increase profit, and avoid liens. CP 443-444; 460. Engelhard was 

engaged in the building of the home at issue by doing more than 

just paying expenses directly. CP 459-460. Engelhard built the 

"home[] together" with the contractor, and Engelhard was "very 

involved in the project." /d. Sometimes the contractor was on site, 
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and sometimes Engelhard was on site. /d. Engelhard hired 

subcontractors. /d. Additionally, Engelhard directed the workers on 

site without going through the contractor. CP 434. 

B. Engelhard built the home with the intent of selling it as 
part of his sequential build and sell business plan. 

Engelhard built the home with the intent of selling it and 

taking advantage of tax savings. CP 463. Engelhard had a plan in 

which he would be mortgage free after selling a third house. /d. 

Consistent with his plan, Engelhard kept his condo on the same 

golf course (CP 431; 463) and lived or received mail at the home 

for two years; purchased another undeveloped lot before selling the 

home at issue, and began construction with the same contractor on 

the next home in his business plan (CP 459-460); and sold the 

second home in his plan two years after building it (CP 430). 

In contrast to the homes in Engelhard's build and sell plan, 

at the time of his deposition, Engelhard had resided in his home, 

which was an existing home when he purchased it, for 

approximately six years. CP 430. Despite being single with no 

plans of settling down with a family, Engelhard built the home at 

issue as a large home to appeal to more buyers, and he used high 

end appliances and materials at a discount through the Parade of 
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Homes to increase his profit when sold. CP 426; 464. 

C. Montgomery was the first purchaser and intended 
occupants. 

It is undisputed that Peggy Montgomery is the first and only 

purchaser of the home Engelhard built on the vacant lot. This is not 

a case of subsequent purchasers, and Engelhard did not buy a 

home from a contractor. Rather, Engelhard constructed the home 

with a contractor intending to sell the home for a profit as part of his 

sequential build and sell business plan. CP 463. 

Consistent with Engelhard's plan to obtain a tax savings by 

waiting two years to sell the home, Engelhard was marketing and 

trying to sell the home in 2001, two years after substantial 

completion. CP 465-468. Although substantially complete, all 

construction was not complete in 1999; finishes such as trim for 

example, remained to be completed. /d. Unable to sell the home on 

the market, Engelhard tried to sell the home to his friend, Dwight 

Montgomery, who could not afford it himself. In 2002, Dwight's 

mother, Peggy Montgomery entered a Purchase and Sale 

Agreement for the home with the intent to live there with her son, 

daughter-in-law, and granddaughter. CP 66. Engelhard then 

allowed Dwight and Lisa Montgomery to move into the home as a 
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wedding gift until the sale closed. CP 451. After closing, Peggy 

Montgomery lived in the home with her family until the home 

became uninhabitable in 2010. CP 94. 

D. The trial court dismissed the Montgomerys' implied 
warranty of habitability claim on summary judgment. 

Engelhard moved for summary judgment dismissal. CP 18-

37. Montgomery and Engelhard presented the trial court with two 

very different versions of the facts; the implied warranty of 

habitability applies to one but not the other. In essence, Engelhard 

argued that he is just an average Joe, who hired a contractor to 

build him a custom home for his own personal use. Montgomery 

responded with evidence that Engelhard was a sophisticated and 

successful real estate developer of both commercial and residential 

properties, who was regularly engaged in building, built the home 

for sale, and sold Montgomery a new home. CP 364-377. After 

going back and forth (RP 33}, the trial court accepted Engelhard's 

version of the facts and dismissed the implied warranty of 

habitability claim on summary judgment. CP 481-483; 508-510. 

The Montgomerys moved for reconsideration, which was denied. 

CP 484-489; 511-512. 

E. Division Three affirmed in a plurality decision. 

The appellate court affirmed in a plurality decision in which 
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the lead opinion and concurring in result opinion render conflicting 

analyses. Like the trial court, the lead opinion resolves factual 

disputes by accepting Engelhard's allegations, even though he is 

the moving party and the Montgomerys presented contradictory 

evidence. The lead opinion further creates an exception to the 

implied warranty of habitability for vendor-builders who hire 

licensed contractors. While the lead opinion holds Engelhard is not 

a vendor-builder as a matter of law because he is not a licensed 

contractor, the concurring in result opinion reasons the construction 

statute of repose, RCW 4.16.300-.320, which only applies to 

builders, bars the Montgomerys' claim. 

WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW 

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b) - on 

every ground. The plurality decision on the one hand (lead opinion) 

creates an exception to the implied warranty of habitability that 

swallows the rule and on the other hand (concurring in result 

opinion) extends the claim to building activity, which are issues of 

substantial public interest for this Court to determine. RAP 

13.4(b)(4). The plurality decision conflicts with the letter and spirit of 

House, Preston, and Pfeifer (and other decisions of this Court). 

RAP 13.4(b)(1). For similar reasons the plurality decision conflicts 
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with decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b )(2). The 

plurality decision affirms a trial court decision denying the 

Montgomerys' constitutional right to trial. RAP 13.4(b )(3). This 

Court should grant review, reverse, and remand for trial. 

A. This petition involves issues of substantial public 
interest this Court should determine. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

This petition involves issues of substantial public interest that 

this Court should determine. In a certain sense, the plurality 

decision can be viewed as an invitation to this Court to accept 

review and address whether the implied warranty of habitability 

should be limited to the point of extinction by adoption of the lead 

opinion's exception that excludes application if the vendor-builder 

hires a licensed contractor, or whether the claim should be 

expanded to apply to building activity as posited by the concurring 

in result opinion. 

Additionally, the lead opinion is viewed as an invitation - if 

not challenge - for this Court to accept review and address the 

summary judgment standards courts must apply. This Court should 

accept the challenge by accepting review, reaffirming that its 

precedents for the past sixty years mean exactly what they say, 

reversing the unjust decision, and remanding for trial to give the 
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Montgomerys their day in court. In an era of economic growth, trial 

courts need this Court's clear guidance with regard to the 

appropriate contours of the implied warranty of habitability. This 

case is an appropriate opportunity to address this issue, which will 

likely come before the trial courts as the economy rebounds from 

the Great Recession and the building of new projects increases.2 

B. The plurality decision conflicts with both the letter and 
the spirit of multiple decisions of this Court on multiple 
issues. RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

1. The decision conflicts with House and its 
progeny. 

In 1969, this Court adopted the implied warranty of 

habitability in House. Similar to this case, House concerned a 

defendant real estate broker who purchased a lot, had his 

contractor construct a home on the lot, and sold the home to the 

plaintiffs. This Court adopted the rule that "when a vendor-builder 

2 The "Great Recession" generally refers to the period during the end of 
the first decade of the 21 51 Century. See Jan G. Laitos & Rachel Martin, 
Zombie Subdivisions in the United States and Ghost Developments in 
Europe: Lessons for Local Governments, 4 Wash. J. Evtl. L. & Pol'y 314 
(2015)(describing the impact of the Great Recession of 2008 on local, 
national, and international building projects). 
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sells a new house to its first intended occupant, he impliedly 

warrants the foundations supporting it are firm and secure and that 

the house is structurally safe for the buyer's intended purpose of 

living in it." House, 76 Wn.2d at 436 (emphasis added). In reaching 

its decision, this Court balanced the equities between the vendor

builder and the innocent buyer, and reasoned the vendor-builder 

was more culpable because he had a better opportunity to 

determine the kind of foundation to install. /d. House has not been 

overruled and remains controlling authority. 

Despite this controlling authority, the lead opinion misreads 

House as only holding the defendant real estate broker vicariously 

liable for acts of his contractor under a partnership theory. 

Additionally, the lead opinion places form over substance by 

making a distinction as to whether the vendor hired a contractor or 
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entered a legal partnership with the contractor.3 There is nothing in 

the House opinion that limits the applicability of the implied 

warranty of habitability based upon such a distinction. Moreover, 

using such a distinction to limit the implied warranty is contrary to 

the reasoning of House. Such a distinction is also contrary to the 

cases from other jurisdictions that this Court has looked to and 

approvingly cited. Atherton Cond.' Apartment Owners Ass'n Bd. 

v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 521, 799 P.2d 250 

(1990)(citing Smith v. Old Warson Dev. Co., 479 S.W.2d 795 (Mo. 

1972)(vendor-builder hired contractor to construct home)) and 

(citing Degnan v. Executive Homes, Inc., 215 Mont. 162, 696 

P.2d 431 (Mt. 1985)(vendor-builder hired contractor to construct 

home)); Fricke/ v. Sunnyside Enterprises, Inc., 106 Wn.2d 714, 

3 In this case, we know more about the relationship between Engelhard 
and the contractor than we know about the defendants in House. 
Engelhard sold new houses the contractor built (CP 424); Engelhard hired 
the contractor to build a commercial property (CP 429); Engelhard worked 
with the contractor in developing a subdivision called Country View 
Estates (CP 424); Engelhard worked with the contractor to build the 
second home in his sequential build and sell plan (CP 430); and as the 
contractor testified Engelhard was actively involved in the projects and 
they built the homes together (CP 459-460), 
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718, 725 P.2d 422 (1986)(citing Bo/kum v. Staab, 133 Vt. 467, 346 

A.2d 210 (Vt. 1975)(vendor-builder hired contractor to construct 

home)); K/os v. Gockel, 87 Wn.2d 567, 570, 554 P.2d 1349 

(1976)(citing Bolkum). Finally, applying such a distinction creates 

an exception that swallows the rule and will allow most vendors of 

new homes in Washington to avoid the implied warranty of 

habitability. 

In K/os, his Court clarified the scope of the implied warranty 

of habitability by recognizing an exception if the vendor-builder built 

the home with an intent for personal use rather than for sale. Klos 

"requires that the vendor-builder be a person regularly engaged in 

building so that that the sale is commercial rather than casual or 

personal in nature." /d. at 570 (emphasis added). This Court has 

never required the vendor-builder to be a licensed contractor in 

order for the implied warranty of habitability to apply to the sale of 

the home. Nor has this Court defined what "regularly engaged in 

building" means. The key inquiry in K/os is whether the sale is 

commercial in nature. Here Engelhard was in the business of 

developing real estate and selling new homes, and built the home 

with his contractor with an intent to sell it as part of his sequential 

build and sell business plan. The lead opinion ignores all of this 
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evidence that is favorable to Montgomery. 

The lead opinion ignores the facts in Klos that are plainly 

distinguishable from the facts in this case. Unlike the widow Gockel 

in Klos, Engelhard, a single man who did not intend to settle down 

with a family, built a large home not for himself but as part of a 

sequential build and sell plan while keeping his condo on the same 

golf course (CP 463-464). Moreover, as the dissenting opinion 

points out, the lead opinion ignores the facts in this case which 

show Engelhard was regularly engaged in the actual building of the 

home with the contractor. 

2. The decision conflicts with Preston and its 
progeny. 

Washington's summary judgment rule, CR 56, became 

effective in 1955. While the purpose of summary judgment is to 

avoid useless trials, for the past sixty years this Court has 

consistently and repeatedly held a trial is not useless, but rather 

"absolutely necessary where there is a genuine issue as to any 

material fact." See e.g., Preston, 55 Wn.2d at 681. 

To zealously protect litigants' rights to trial on all legitimately 

contested issues, this Court has set forth the following principles, 

which are in conflict with the plurality decision: (1) if there is a 

genuine issue as to any material fact summary judgment is not 

15 



appropriate; (2) the court's function is to determine whether a 

genuine material issue of fact exists, not to resolve such factual 

issues; and (3) the court must consider all evidence and all 

reasonable inferences most favorably to the nonmoving party, and 

when so considered, if reasonable minds might reach different 

conclusions the motion should be denied. See e.g., Ba/ise v. 

Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 198-199, 381 P.2d 966 (1963); see 

also Montgomery v. Engelhard, 31888-5 Ill, 2015 WL 348948 _ 

P.3d _, 1MJ58-60 (2015)(Fearing, J., dissenting). 

The moving party is held to a strict standard, and any doubts 

as to the existence of factual disputes must be resolved against the 

moving party. Atherton, 115 Wn.2d at 516. These principles must 

be followed both by trial courts and on review. Yakima Fruit & 

Cold Storage Co. v. Cent. Heating & Plumbing Co., 81 Wn.2d 

528, 530, 503 P.2d 108 (1972). This Court adhered to and repeated 

these principles recently in Jones v. Dep't of Health, 170 Wn.2d 

338, 352, 242 P.3d 825 (2010). 

As the thirty-four page dissenting opinion points out in great 

detail, the lead opinion conflicts with this Court's controlling 

authority by viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to 

Engelhard, the moving party, and by snubbing or ignoring the 
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evidence and inferences therefrom which are most favorable to the 

Montgomerys, the nonmoving party. 

3. The decision conflicts with Pfeifer. 

House held that when a vendor-builder sells a new house, 

he impliedly warrants the home for its intend purpose. The implied 

warranty does not arise from the construction of the home, but 

rather from its sale. This Court directly addressed whether the 

construction statue of repose bars implied warranty of habitability 

claims against the vendor-builder in Pfeifer. This Court held the 

statute of repose is not applicable and does not bar implied 

warranty of habitability claims against a builder-vendor. Pfeifer, 112

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