Received
Washington State Supreme Court

SEP 1 4 2015 Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

NO. 91927-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PEGGY MONTGOMERY, and DWIGHT MONTGOMERY and LISA MONTGOMERY, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

VS.

GLEN L. ENGELHARD, JANE DOE ENGELHARD, and their marital community,

Respondents,

and

WILLIAM M. ADAMS, JANE DOE ADAMS, and their marital community; and TB ADAMS REALTY, LLC, a Washington real estate firm,

Defendants.

APPEAL FROM BENTON COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Carrie Runge, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

REED McCLURE

By Pamela A. Okano John W. Rankin, Jr. WSBA #7718 WSBA #6357

Attorneys for Respondents

Address:

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

In *Boardman v. Dorsett*, 38 Wn. App. 338, 685 P.2d 615, *rev. denied*, 103 Wn.2d 1006 (1984), Division III faced an argument that the implied warranty applied to a defendant who, unlike Engelhard, had

¹ By "builder," this answer does not mean a person who actually pounds a hammer or uses a saw. Rather, a "builder" is "a general building contractor who controls and directs the construction of a building, has ultimate responsibility for completion of the whole contract and for putting the structure into permanent form." *Jeanguneat v. Jackie Hames Constr. Co.*, 1978 OK 31, 576 P.2d 761, 762 n.1 (1978); *accord Kirk v. Ridgway*, 373 N.W.2d 491, 496 (Iowa 1985).

² Petitioners' only record reference for their claim that Engelhard was "sophisticated" is their legal memorandum in opposition to summary judgment. (Petition for Review 8) This does not meet their burden of showing a genuine issue of material fact. *Trohimovich v. State*, 90 Wn. App. 554, 558, 952 P.2d 192, *rev. denied*, 136 Wn.2d 1018 (1998).

apparently actually built the home at issue. The court affirmed summary judgment for the defendant because he was not a licensed contractor that had built several homes. This Court denied review.

Thus, Division III did not "create[] an exception to the implied warranty of habitability for vendor-builders who hire licensed contractors." (Petition for Review 9). The court instead held the implied warranty inapplicable since Engelhard was a vendor, not a vendor-builder.

Petitioners also misread the concurrence for allegedly "extend[ing]" the implied warranty "from the activity of selling to the activity of building." (Petition for Review 2, 10) The implied warranty has always applied to an entity that was *both* builder and seller. *See, e.g., Atherton,* 115 Wn.2d at 519 n.7; *House v. Thornton,* 76 Wn.2d 428, 435, 457 P.2d 199 (1969). Engelhard was only a seller. While the concurrence cited different grounds than the lead opinion to reach the same result, there was no conflict between them creating need for clarification.

It takes more than the mere ability to write checks to subcontractors and materialmen or to ask that a wall be changed to have the capability to "exercise[e] reasonable care to construct a sound building." *House*, 76 Wn.2d at 435. The undisputed evidence was that Engelhard did not have that capability and thus was not a builder.

2. The Sale Was Not Commercial.

Furthermore, even had Engelhard acted as his own general contractor, this Court's unanimous decision in *Klos v. Gockel*, 87 Wn.2d 567, 554 P.2d 1349 (1976), mandated affirming the summary judgment here. *Klos* reversed a bench trial judgment in favor of plaintiff homeowners and remanded with directions to dismiss the implied warranty of habitability claim against defendant builder-vendor.

In *Klos* defendant and her husband had run a construction business prior to his death. Their practice was to engage in a sequential build and sell: buying several lots, building on one, and occupying that house until they had built on the remaining lots. Then they would sell all the houses.

After her husband's death, defendant employed a variation of the couple's sequential build and sale practice to build three houses on Mercer Island. Specifically, after building the first, she lived in it for a year before selling it to plaintiffs. She then built the second house where she lived before selling it. She then built the third house and lived in it.

Defendant acted as her own general contractor. Although she claimed to have built the first house for her own personal use, this Court noted her conduct in this regard was "somewhat ambivalent." 87 Wn.2d at 570.

Nonetheless, despite defendant's sequential build and sell history and evidence suggesting she contemplated eventual sale, this Court held the sale was not a commercial one. Significantly, this Court declared, "The fact that appellant acted as her own general contractor is not controlling for such is often the case," and "It is not enough ... that [defendant] contemplated an eventual sale of the house." 87 Wn.2d at 570, 571.

Here, unlike the *Klos* defendant, Engelhard did not act as a general contractor. Even if he had, and even had he contemplated eventual sale, *Klos* demonstrates that that is insufficient.

3. Petitioners Were Not First Occupants.

In addition, petitioners had to present factual issues the house was new when bought although it was more than 4 years old. Accordingly, petitioners claim Peggy Montgomery "was the first buyer." (Opening Brief of Appellants 24; see Petition for Review 7) But it is the first occupant, not necessarily the first buyer, who can bring an action under the implied warranty. See House, 76 Wn.2d at 436, (implied warranty exists when vendor-builder sells "new house" to "its first intended occupant"); Gay v. Cornwall, 6 Wn. App. 595, 494 P.2d 1371 (1972) (implied warranty applied to third owner/first occupant). Indeed, the "new house/first occupant" requirement is so strict that subsequent purchaser-

occupants who are assignees of first occupants cannot recover for breach of implied warranty of habitability. Carlile, 147 Wn. App. at 202.

Engelhard was the house's first occupant. He lived there for two years. Petitioner Dwight Montgomery conceded—under oath—that Engelhard was "living in the upstairs" portion of the house and that he, Montgomery, had met Engelhard there before playing golf. (CP 464)

Thus, the lead opinion was simply following Washington precedent by holding that Engelhard was not a commercial builder or, in the alternative, petitioners were not the first occupants.

Because they cannot meet their burden of showing a genuine issue of material fact as to these and, as will be discussed infra, the other requirements for the implied warranty, plaintiffs asked the Court of Appeals and now this Court to expand the implied warranty far beyond its present boundaries. For example, petitioners claimed that the implied warranty should apply to Engelhard because he is a licensed real estate agent and allegedly a real estate developer.³ (Opening Brief of Appellants

always retained a general contractor on the few projects he attempted.

10

³ "Real estate development is different from construction, although many developers also construct." https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Real_estate_development; see generally Rivas v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr., 164 Wn.2d 261, 266 n.2, 189 P.3d 753 (2008) (citing Wikipedia for factual statement). Where a developer is also a builder, the implied warranty may properly be imposed on it in an appropriate case. See, e.g., Atherton, 115 Wn.2d at 511 (defendant was developer, contractor, and vendor); Stuart, 109 Wn.2d at 408-09 (defendant was developer, contractor, and vendor). It is undisputed Engelhard

6, 18; Petition for Review 4-5, 8, 18) But the implied warranty in this state is "a limited one," and "[t]his court has not been anxious to extend the implied warranty of habitability beyond its present boundaries." *Stuart*, 109 Wn.2d at 415-16. This answer will demonstrate there is no reason to do so here.

B. THERE IS NO CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS.

1. Implied Warranty of Habitability Cases.

First, petitioners claim the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *House*, 76 Wn.2d 428. Petitioners contend *House* imposed the implied warranty on a real estate broker who purchased a lot and retained a contractor to build a home on it. Plaintiffs' reliance is misplaced because they deem irrelevant a crucial fact in *House*.

The crucial fact is that defendant real estate broker and his general contractor had "entered into a *copartnership and agreement* to construct" the residence. 76 Wn.2d at 429 (emphasis added). Under the then law, the partnership was bound by one partner's wrongful acts, and each partner was jointly and severally liable. 1955 WASH. LAWS ch. 15, §§ 25.04.130, .150(1). Thus, the conduct of the *House* general contractor was imputable to his partner, the real estate broker, as a matter of law. *See Poutre v. Saunders*, 19 Wn.2d 561, 565-66, 143 P.2d 554 (1943). Consequently, neither the parties nor this Court had any reason to discuss whether the

broker, absent the partnership, would have qualified as a builder-vendor subject to the implied warranty. Petitioners' claim that the distinction between hiring a general contractor and entering into a partnership with one to construct a building has no legal significance is baseless.

Even had there not been a partnership, *House* focused on *whether* to impose an implied warranty of habitability on a builder-vendor at all, not on *what* constitutes a builder-vendor. "An opinion which assumes a particular proposition is not an authority supporting that proposition." *In re Estate of Bowers*, 50 Wn. App. 691, 696, 750 P.2d 275 (1988), *rev'd on other grounds*, *Safeco Ins. Co. v. Barcom*, 112 Wn.2d 575, 773 P.2d 56 (1989). Division III's opinion does not conflict with *House*.

Petitioners also claim conflicts with cases from other jurisdictions cited in *Atherton*, 115 Wn.2d at 521, *Frickel*, 106 Wn.2d at 718, and *Klos*, 87 Wn.2d at 570. Whether a Court of Appeals decision conflicts with non-Washington cases is not a criterion for review under RAP 13.4(b).

In any event, *Atherton* did not even decide what a "builder-vendor" is: the defendant there had *built*, as well as developed and sold, the condominium units, so there was no question it was a builder-vendor. The issue was whether the alleged construction defects violated the implied warranty. The Division III decision here does not conflict with *Atherton*.

Frickel involved whether the sale of an apartment building built by defendant for its own ownership and management had been built for purposes of resale. Defendant was clearly a commercial builder in that it had built over 100 apartment units for its own ownership and management. Nevertheless, this Court held that the implied warranty of habitability did not apply because the building was indisputably not built for the purposes of resale. Whether the sellers were builder-vendors for purposes of the implied warranty was not at issue.

As discussed *supra*, *Klos* supports Engelhard, not petitioners, with respect to whether the sale was a commercial one. Moreover, Engelhard lived in the house two years, one year more than the *Klos* defendant. There is no evidence his living there was for the primary purpose of promoting the property's sale. Even if Engelhard had contemplated eventual sale, *Klos* says that is not enough. Moreover, unlike the *Klos* defendant, Engelhard retained a general contractor rather than acting as his own. But even had Engelhard acted as his own general contractor, *Klos* says that would not be controlling. That the defendant in *Klos* also engaged in sequential build and sales was also insufficient.

Petitioners claim that "[t]he key inquiry in *Klos* is whether the sale is commercial in nature." (Petition for Review 14) That was true in *Klos* because there was no dispute there that defendant had acted as her own

general contractor. Engelhard did not act as his own general contractor and thus did not qualify as a "builder" for purposes of who is a vendor-builder subject to the implied warranty of habitability.

Thus, Division III's decision does not conflict with any implied warranty of habitability decision of this Court.

2. The Concurrence Does Not Conflict with Pfeiffer.

The concurrence in the instant case would have held that assuming Engelhard had been the builder-vendor petitioners claimed he was, petitioners' implied warranty of habitability claim would be barred by RCW 4.16.300-.320, the statute of repose. (A copy of these statutes are set forth in the appendix hereto.) Petitioners do not dispute that if the statute of repose applies to the implied warranty of habitability, it applies here so their case should be dismissed as a matter of law.⁴ Rather, petitioners claim that the concurring opinion was wrong in deciding that the statute of repose applies to the implied warranty and that, as such, the concurrence conflicts with *Pfeifer v. City of Bellingham*, 112 Wn.2d 562; 772 P.2d 1018 (1989). Petitioners are wrong. *If Engelhard qualifies as a builder as well as a vendor*, the statute of repose applies to him.

⁴ The statute of repose bars defective construction claims against builders that accrue more than six years after substantial completion. RCW 4.16.300-.320. Here substantial completion occurred in January 1999. Petitioners claimed to have discovered water intrusion in 2008, nine years later. (CP 40, 51, 106, 108, 111, 140)

Pfeifer held the statute of repose did not apply to claims arising out of sale, rather than construction, of a building. Thus, the statute of repose did not apply to a concealment claim because that claim arose from alleged misrepresentations made to induce purchase.

Petitioners claim an implied warranty of habitability arises from the sale of the residence, not from its construction, so the concurrence here conflicts with *Pfeifer. House* did say that when a builder-vendor sells a house, there is an implied warranty of habitability. 76 Wn.2d at 436. But *Berg v. Stromme*, 79 Wn.2d 184, 196, 484 P.2d 380 (1971), clarified this:

[House] imposed a rule of strict liability holding the builder-seller to the principle that he was under a duty to supply a structure adequate in foundation and supporting terrain to be used by the buyer for the purposes for which the house and lot had been sold.

In other words, the implied warranty "[does] not arise out of any document evidencing the sale; rather, it came into existence by operation of law by virtue of a common law duty of strict liability that the builderseller owed to the first purchaser-occupant." *Donovan v. Pruitt,* 36 Wn. App. 324, 328, 674 P.2d 204 (1983) (6-year statute of limitations applicable to actions on written contract inapplicable to implied warranty of habitability claims). Courts created the implied warranty "to meet a felt need to protect new home purchasers from the ruinous potentialities caused by *construction defects* 'which vitally affect the structural stability

or preclude the occupancy of the building." *Donovan*, 36 Wn. App. at 328 (quoting *House*, 76 Wn.2d at 434)) (emphasis added).

Hence, petitioners' claim arises from the allegedly defective construction. Thus, the concurring opinion does not conflict with *Pfeifer*, and the statute of repose requires dismissal of the implied warranty claim.

C. THERE IS NO CONFLICT WITH OTHER COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS.

As discussed *supra*, Division III's decision here is consistent with and indeed, mandated by, its decision in *Boardman*, 38 Wn. App. 338, a decision that this Court declined to review. 103 Wn.2d 1006 (1984). Petitioners' argument that Division III's decision conflicts with *Donovan*, 36 Wn. App. 324, and *Carlile*, 147 Wn. App. 193, is also without merit.

Petitioners argue that *Donovan* applied the implied warranty of habitability where the buyers purchased the home two years after completion. Although this is true, it has nothing to do with whether the home was "new", because the buyers in *Donovan* were the home's "first purchasers *and occupants*." 36 Wn. App. at 325 (emphasis added). As discussed *supra* at 9-10, it is first occupants who can sue for breach of the implied warranty of habitability. Petitioners were not the first occupants.

Division III's opinion does not conflict with *Carlile* either. In that case, the term "developer" was used interchangeably with "builder-

vendor," without mention of a separate general contractor, implying the developer was also the builder. Indeed, the *Carlile* plaintiffs referred to the developer as "the builder" when arguing the economic loss rule did not apply to "claims of subsequent homeowners who did not contract with the *builder*." *Id.* at 203 (emphasis added). This implies the initial homeowners contracted with the builder by purchasing homes, so the developer-vendor was also the builder. In fact, developer-vendors can often be builders as well. *See Atherton*, 115 Wn.2d at 511; *Stuart*, 109 Wn.2d at 408-09.

The only other Court of Appeals cases petitioners cite as conflicting have nothing to do with the implied warranty of habitability or builder-vendors. Rather, they deal with the summary judgment standard. But as discussed *supra*, there can be no dispute that Engelhard was not the builder or that petitioners were not the house's first occupants. Hence, Division III's decision does not conflict with petitioners' summary judgment cases or raise any issue of substantial public interest.

D. THERE IS NO SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION.

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